STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Dorchester County

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2015-UP-501 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed October 28, 2015)

2008-GS-18-0009

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DON-SURVI CHISOLM,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000092

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
FEB 08 2016
SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court properly admitted evidence of Petitioner's alleged prior drug dealing when the evidence was not admissible to prove motive pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, was not necessary to a full presentation of the case, and where its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding Petitioner's challenge to the admission of a firearm into evidence on grounds that there was an insufficient nexus to prove the weapon was involved in the murder thereby making it irrelevant and highly prejudicial was not preserved for appellate review and by failing to address the merits of the claim?

3.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion to suppress evidence derived from a search warrant issued on September 27, 2007 for Petitioner's 2007 Dodge Durango when the search warrant was based on defective information?

4.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court properly refused to allow Petitioner to cross-examine Detective Zensen about DNA testing performed on a seized firearm, specifically as it pertained to the decedent, since Petitioner had the right to show that the detective's answers were inconsistent in this regard and because the evidence was relevant to the thoroughness and accuracy of the investigation?

5.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the trial court properly allowed Petitioner to represent himself where the trial judge did not inquire about the nature of the conflicts Petitioner was having with his attorney, did not warn Petitioner that a murder conviction would constitute an aggravating circumstance for the state to seek the death penalty in his other Berkeley County murder case, and was very vague and not specific about the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the January 14, 2008 term of General Sessions for the offense of murder. R. 690-691. His case was called to trial on September 13, 2011 before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, and a jury. Assistant Solicitors Russell Hilton and Matt Austin represented the state, and Petitioner represented himself. R. 132. John Loy was stand-by counsel. R. 132.

On September 19, 2011, the jury found Petitioner guilty. R. 686, ll. 10-14. He was sentenced by Judge Goodstein to life without parole. R. 689, ll. 4-6.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction on October 28, 2015. State v. Chisolm, 2015-UP-501 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed October 28, 2015); App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing on November 12, 2015. App. 4-26. By letter dated November 13, 2015, the Court of Appeals requested the state file a Return. App. 27. On November 23, 2015, the state filed a Return to Petition for Rehearing. App. 28-42. By order dated December 17, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing. App. 43.

Petitioner now files this Petition for Writ of Certiorari requesting this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court properly admitted evidence of Petitioner's alleged prior drug dealing when the evidence was not admissible to prove motive pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, was not necessary to a full presentation of the case, and where its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant Facts

Shaquanda White testified that she rode as a front passenger in Petitioner's Dodge Durango approximately one week before September 13, 2007, the date of the murder. R. 253, ll. 14-22. She claimed the front passenger seat was in "normal condition," did not have any major holes, and did not need to be replaced. Moreover, Shaquanda said she remembered seeing the front passenger seatbelt and that it was "fine." R. 253, l. 23 – 254, l. 17. David White, the only alleged witness to the shooting, claimed that after the murder, the front passenger seat of Petitioner's Dodge Durango had "a big spot of blood on it" and Petitioner told him several hours later that he was trying to find a new front passenger seat for the vehicle. Petitioner allegedly showed White where he had cut a large hole in the seat to remove the blood and put a black and gray cover on the seat to hide the hole. White also noticed the front seatbelt was missing and claimed it had been cut out. R. 294, l. 6 – 298, l. 11.

Based on this testimony, the state sought to present evidence that Petitioner had replaced the front passenger seat of his Durango within days of the murder to destroy evidence linking him to the offense. Specifically, the state sought to present the testimony of Thomas Simonelli regarding an alleged agreement between Simonelli and Petitioner in which Simonelli would purchase a passenger seat from LKQ Auto Parts on a credit card in exchange for cocaine. The state also planned to have Simonelli testify that he knew Petitioner because Petitioner was Simonelli's "cocaine supplier." R. 382, ll. 2-24. The state argued Simonelli's testimony was admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE to

show motive. The solicitor emphasized Tamekka Williams' testimony that the decedent had started selling drugs about a month prior to the murder and argued, "I need to establish at this point . . . [Petitioner] also sold drugs in that area to show motive as to why he would want to take out the victim." R. 384, l. 23 – 385, l. 10; See R. 241, l. 20 – 242, l. 8. The solicitor stated, "It's the state's position that that would be quite a good reason for Mr. Chisolm [Petitioner] to want to take out a fellow drug dealer that's cutting into his territory." Id. The state also argued the testimony was more probative than prejudicial because Petitioner told law enforcement he replaced the seat because it had cigarette burns on it. The solicitor asserted it was unusual that a person who wanted to replace a car seat would do so when he could not afford to do it with cash and was forced to make a third-party purchase involving cocaine the day after a murder. R. 384, ll. 3-22; R. 386, l. 10 – 387, l. 13.

Petitioner objected to Simonelli's testimony and argued it was not admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE to establish motive. He stated, "That is pure speculation and is highly prejudicial. It's remote in time, it's not *res gestae*. It's not subject of conviction, it's purely unrelated and unsubstantiated conjecture." R. 385, ll. 11-14. Petitioner emphasized that Tamekka Williams, who previously testified the decedent sold drugs, never mentioned Petitioner and the decedent had a conflict, nor was there any previous testimony indicating Petitioner sold drugs. Instead, the only evidence the state had was testimony from Simonelli that a trade was going to take place, but never did because the credit card was declined. R. 385, ll. 15-23; See R. 241, l. 20 – 242, l. 8. Moreover, Petitioner stated, "I just think it's highly prejudicial towards me. I've never been arrested for any drug charges. There's no evidence of ill will between me and Red [the decedent]. Other than this accusation there's nothing historically to show any problems between us. No one has testified that there was a war between us in drug competition. Nothing of that nature, Your Honor. It's just pure speculation . . ." R. 388, ll. 17-24.

The trial court ruled Simonelli's testimony was admissible. The judge found the testimony was relevant to show Petitioner replaced the seat in his Durango shortly after the murder and to show motive under Rule 404(b), SCRE. Additionally, the court ruled "the probative value far exceeds the prejudicial effect" to Petitioner because the testimony regarding cocaine and Petitioner's alleged prior drug dealing was not similar to the offense for which he was on trial. Specifically, the court emphasized that the alleged prior bad act did not involve physical violence, which would be too similar to the allegations in this case. R. 388, l. 25 – 390, l. 20.

Simonelli ultimately testified that he "used to have a drug problem" and that Petitioner sold him drugs. R. 411, ll. 21-24. Petitioner contemporaneously renewed his objection, which the court overruled. R. 412, ll. 1-4. Simonelli also claimed that on September 14, 2007, Petitioner called him in reference to purchasing a car seat. According to Simonelli, Petitioner asked Simonelli if he would buy a seat from LKQ Auto Parts on a credit card in exchange for cocaine. However, the credit card was declined and the purchase never took place. R. 412, l. 6 – 414, l. 4.

The state discussed its theory of Petitioner's motive during its closing argument. The solicitor suggested Petitioner killed the decedent because the decedent started selling drugs in the area about a month before his death, and his actions were interfering with Petitioner's own drug dealing business. R. 663, l. 11 – 664, l. 1.

Discussion

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court properly admitted evidence of Petitioner's alleged prior drug dealing and the alleged trade since it was remote in time, irrelevant to the murder, failed to establish any logical motive based on the evidence presented, and its probative value was substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice to Petitioner.

"Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity. It may, however, be admissible to show motive,

identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” SCRE Rule 404(b); State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). To be admissible, alleged prior bad acts that are not the subject of conviction must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 103, 504 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998); State v. Smith, 300 S.C. 216, 218-219, 387 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1989). Additionally, the record must support a logical relevance between the prior bad act and the crime for which the defendant is accused. State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 61, 533 S.E.2d 325, 327 (2000). “Further, even though the evidence falls within a Lyle exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” SCRE Rule 403; See State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 221-222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991).

Simonelli’s testimony that Petitioner previously sold him drugs lacked any logical relevance to the murder for which Petitioner was accused. See Brooks, 341 S.C. at 61, 533 S.E.2d at 327. *The connection was simply not there.* Besides Simonelli’s testimony that Petitioner sold him drugs, the only other evidence produced at trial that contributed to the state’s farfetched theory of motive was the testimony of Tamekka Williams that the decedent began selling drugs about a month before his death. R. 241, l. 20 – 242, l. 8; R. 411, l. 21 – 414, l. 4. As Petitioner argued at trial, “It’s purely unrelated and unsubstantiated conjecture.” R. 385, ll. 11-14. There was *no* evidence of a conflict between Petitioner and the decedent over alleged drug dealing nor was there *any evidence* of a competition between the two. David White, the only alleged witness to the murder, claimed there was *no arguing* between Petitioner and the decedent and that he did not know why Petitioner allegedly shot the decedent. R. 300, ll. 3-5. There was *nothing* in the record to support the inference that the decedent and Petitioner were involved in competing drug dealing businesses. Therefore, Simonelli’s testimony should not have been admitted under Rule 404(b) to support the state’s farfetched theory of motive.

Additionally, the evidence that Petitioner allegedly offered to trade cocaine in exchange for the purchase of the front passenger seat was *not* “necessary to a full presentation of the case” as the Court of Appeals held. The state was able to present evidence that Petitioner had called numerous junk yards looking for a front passenger seat to a 2006 Dodge Durango and that Petitioner ultimately obtained a new front passenger seat for his vehicle from LKQ Auto Parts within a few days of the murder. The specific testimony regarding Petitioner’s alleged offer to trade cocaine in exchange for Simonelli putting the seat on a credit card was completely unnecessary and was simply used by the state to damage Petitioner’s character and credibility.

Not only was there no logical relevance between Petitioner’s alleged prior drug dealing and the murder for which Petitioner was tried, but any probative value of the testimony regarding Petitioner’s alleged prior drug dealing and the alleged agreement was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Petitioner was prejudiced because such testimony was destructive to his character and hence his credibility. While Petitioner did not testify at trial, he made various statements to law enforcement that were presented to the jury, such as he purchased a new front passenger seat for his Durango because of burn holes from cigarettes. See R. 428, l. 19 – 429, l. 4. Thus, Petitioner’s credibility was an important factor in the case.

Moreover, it appears the Court of Appeals may have overlooked or simply ignored this Court’s opinions in State v. Coleman, 301 S.C. 57, 389 S.E.2d 659 (1990), State v. Bolden, 303 S.C. 41, 398 S.E.2d 494 (1990), and State v. Smith, 309 S.C. 442, 424 S.E.2d 496 (1992).

In Coleman, this Court held prejudice to Coleman from the admission of evidence that he was a social user of cocaine outweighed any probative value to show Coleman’s motive or state of mind at the time of the murder. Despite evidence Coleman was “wired” on the morning of the murder, this Court concluded there was no evidence Coleman’s condition was the result of cocaine use nor was there any evidence in the record to support the inference that the victim and Coleman

were involved in a drug transaction. Instead, this Court held the only function of this evidence was to demonstrate Coleman's bad character and thus it granted him a new trial. 301 S.C. at 60, 389 S.E.2d at 660.

In Bolden, this Court held evidence of Bolden's alleged crack cocaine use in a hotel shortly before the hotel was robbed was prejudicial error when its only function was to demonstrate the defendant's bad character. This Court stated, "[T]here is nothing in the record to indicate a logical relevance between use of crack cocaine during the night before the robbery and the robbery which occurred at 6:10 am the following day." 303 S.C. at 43, 398 S.E.2d at 494-495. This Court further held that even if the testimony was relevant, its probative value was clearly outweighed by its unfair prejudice and thus remanded Bolden's case for a new trial. 303 S.C. at 43-44, 398 S.E.2d at 495.

In Smith, this Court held evidence of Smith's prior drug use, unrelated to the murder and armed robbery, should have been excluded. Despite considerable evidence of cocaine use during the actual murder and armed robbery, the Court held Smith's *prior* cocaine use was highly prejudicial and "so destructive to [Smith's] character, hence her credibility, that it cannot be held harmless error or cumulative." This Court reversed Smith's convictions and death sentence and remanded the case for a new trial. 309 S.C. at 446-447, 424 S.E.2d at 498-499.

The facts of Petitioner's case are similar to the facts of the above cited cases. Evidence of Petitioner's alleged *prior* drug dealing and the alleged agreement involving cocaine was highly prejudicial, failed to establish any logical motive based on the evidence presented, and was extremely destructive to his character and credibility. Moreover, it was not necessary for "a full presentation of the case." Respectfully, this Court should hold the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's erroneous ruling and reverse Petitioner's conviction.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding Petitioner's challenge to the admission of a firearm into evidence on grounds that there was an insufficient nexus to prove the weapon was involved in the murder thereby making it irrelevant and highly prejudicial was not preserved for appellate review and by failing to address the merits of the claim.

Relevant Facts

David White claimed he saw the gun Petitioner allegedly used to shoot the decedent. White testified, "It was a twenty-two, a twenty-two long. I know what a twenty-two long look like [sic]. It was a twenty-two long, long on the muzzle." R. 283, ll. 23-25. White provided no further details regarding the appearance or characteristics of the weapon. When presented with a gun identified as State's Exhibit No. 14, White stated, "That *looks like* the gun [Petitioner] shot [the decedent] with." R. 284, ll. 17-18 (emphasis added). White further claimed that before Petitioner drove him home on the morning of the murder, Petitioner stopped at Bacon Bridge Road and "tossed the gun out over the bridge." R. 289, ll. 18-23; R. 293, ll. 1-9.

Allison Greer of the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office testified that the sheriff's office learned of the location of the alleged murder weapon when David White came forward. R. 429, ll. 16-21. Greer was a member of the "dive team" and was "requested to dive the area off of Bacon's Bridge Road where the Ashley River crosses over Bacon's Bridge." R. 429, l. 22 – 430, l. 7. The dive team ultimately located and recovered a twenty-two caliber Browning Buck Mark semi-automatic pistol a few days into the search. R. 430, l. 25 – 431, l. 4. When presented with a firearm identified as State's Exhibit No. 14, Greer testified, "That it *appears to be* the same weapon that we located." R. 433, ll. 14-18 (emphasis added).

When the state subsequently offered State's Exhibit No. 14 into evidence, Petitioner clearly objected on grounds of relevance, lack of foundation, and improper chain of custody. R. 433, l. 22 –

434, l. 4; R. 436, ll. 1-6. Based on the solicitor's argument in response, it is apparent the state understood the grounds of Petitioner's objection. The solicitor argued the gun was tied to the murder through White and that it was found in the water at the location where White said it would be, clearly attempting to suggest the weapon was relevant and that there was a sufficient nexus. The solicitor concluded the gun was "*certainly relevant*" and that the state laid a proper foundation for the gun to be admitted into evidence. R. 434, l. 15 – 435, l. 8 (emphasis added).

Petitioner further argued that David White was "high on cocaine, freaked out, he was in a dark car," thus implying White was not reliable in his identification of the alleged murder weapon and that the gun was not relevant to the case. R. 436, ll. 8-10.

The trial court sustained the objection finding additional foundation was required. R. 436, l. 13 – 43. Greer then testified that she was present when the firearm was recovered from the river. She claimed the gun removed from the water and firearm identified as State's Exhibit No. 14 both had gold triggers and the handle grips appeared to be the same shape. R. 437, l. 23 – 439, l. 1.

The weapon was ultimately admitted into evidence during Detective Zensen's testimony. Zensen said she took possession of the weapon immediately after it was recovered from the water and transported the gun directly to SLED. R. 473, l. 10 – 474, l. 25. She identified State's Exhibit No. 14 as the gun recovered from the river. She further claimed the weapon had a "very distinctive" green neon sight and a "very distinctive" gold trigger. R. 472, l. 25 – 473, l. 9; R. 474, ll. 23-25.

When the state sought to admit the weapon, Petitioner properly renewed his objection stating, "I'll just renew my objection, Your Honor, *on the same grounds.*" R. 475, ll. 18-23 (emphasis added). The trial court simply ruled, "Very well. Overruled." App. 475, l. 23. The court presumably overruled the objection based on all grounds raised by Petitioner, including lack of relevance, lack of foundation, and an insufficient chain of custody. Consequently, this issue was properly preserved for appellate

review and the Court of Appeals must have overlooked the parts of the record that show Petitioner objected based on relevance and that the weapon was not properly connected to this murder.

After the firearm was admitted over objection, Ira Parnell, who was qualified as an expert in firearms and ballistics, testified that he examined State's Exhibit No. 14, the alleged murder weapon, and State's Exhibit No. 18, the bullet recovered from the decedent's body. R. 611, ll. 9-17. Parnell said the bullet was "badly damaged" and thus he was unable to determine whether the bullet was or was not fired from the firearm marked as State's Exhibit No. 14. R. 612, l. 21 – 613, l. 9.

Discussion

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