STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR - 9 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Unpublished Opinion No. 2015-UP-501 (Ct.App. Filed October 28, 2015)

THE STATE, Respondent,
vs.

DON-SURVI CHISOLM, Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000092

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The Court of Appeals properly found no abuse of discretion in admitting limited and brief evidence of prior drug sales through the testimony of Thomas Simonelli in proof of material facts directly related to the instant murder, namely possible motive, and as the context of the murder cleanup efforts immediately thereafter.

Relevant Facts:

The State advised the trial judge it would offer the testimony of Thomas Simonelli:

... The gist of Mr. Simonelli’s testimony is that around September - - it would have been the 14th, that Friday, he received calls from Mr. Chisolm in reference to Mr. Simonelli paying LKQ automotive for the car seat. The payment arrangement for that seat was that Mr. Chisolm was going to pay him twice the amount in cocaine in exchange for him putting the seat on his credit card. ... Also, the testimony by Mr. Simonelli would be that he knows the defendant because that was his cocaine supplier.

(R. p. 382, lines 2-15). (See also R. p. 386, lines 10-19).

The State argued the testimony was admissible in two ways: “under Rule 404(b) to show motive,” specifically, “that defendant was selling drugs in the Haven Oaks area, [and] the victim was selling drugs in the Haven Oaks area,” and also to show he was “trading cocaine [in a straw-man purchase] to pay for a seat the day after a murder.” (R. p. 382, lines 16-24; p. 384, lines 15-22). The State noted Tamekka Williams’ testimony that the victim had just recently begun selling drugs in their area and argued “that would be quite a good reason for Mr. Chisolm to want to take out a fellow drug dealer that’s cutting into his territory.” (R. p. 384, line 23 – p. 385, line 10). (See also R. p. 241, line 20- p. 242, line 1). Further, “the payment arrangement was going to be twice as much cocaine as the value of the seat.” (R. p. 386, lines 20-25). Petitioner asserted such was “pure speculation ... highly prejudicial... remote in time ... not res gestae... not subsection of conviction....” (R. p. 385, lines 11-14). (See also R. p. 388, lines 5-24).

The trial judge found the testimony relevant as to the purchase and payment by cocaine, and would allow the argument on motive, “though motive is not an element of the offense....” (R. p. 388, line 25 - p. 389, line 15). Before admitting the testimony, the trial judge considered the prejudicial effect compared to the probative value in allowing the testimony, but found cocaine was a major part of the testimony already given, “what brought them together,” and the case was not a similar drug offense. (R. p. 390, lines 3-20). Thereafter, Mr. Simonelli testified he knew Petitioner because Petitioner sold him drugs. (R. p. 411, lines 21-24). He testified in exchange for purchasing the replacement seat as requested, he could cancel some of his drug debt to Petitioner, “and trade some more cocaine or something like that.” (R. p. 413, line 25– p. 414, line 4)

On appeal, Petitioner argued the testimony was improper for a number of reasons: 1) remote in time; 2) irrelevant to murder; 3) irrelevant to prove motive; and 4) probative value substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice. (FBOA, p. 7). He argued the evidence of “prior drug dealing was highly prejudicial, failed to establish any logical motive based on the evidence

presented, and was extremely destructive to Petitioner's character and credibility." (FBOA, p. 10). The Court of Appeals found the trial judge did not abuse her discretion. (App. p. 2).

Discussion:

Certiorari review is not warranted as this is an ordinary application of the well-established rules of evidence. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed where the record supports there was no abuse of discretion.

"The [a]dmission of evidence falls within the trial court's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent abuse of that discretion." *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 625, 525 S.E.2d 246, 247 - 248 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law," *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 335, 748 S.E.2d 194, 203 (2013), or when the ruling lacks factual support in the record, *Wilder v. State*, 388 S.C. 282, 285, 696 S.E.2d 587, 588 (2010).

Prior crimes and bad acts may be admissible to show motive, intent, the absence of mistake or accident, common scheme or plan, or the identity of the perpetrator of the crime at bar. Rule 404 (b), SCRE. "Evidence of other crimes is never admissible unless necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged." *State v. Johnson*, 293 S.C. 321, 324, 360 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1987). A material fact is "[a] fact that is significant or essential to the issue or matter at hand." *Black's Law Dictionary* (9th ed. 2009). Even where admissible as evidence of a material fact, "the evidence may still be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice or misleading the jury." *Id.* Reference to prior drug use or drug transactions should not be admitted unless such was part of the circumstances of the crime. *State v. Coleman*, 301 S.C. 57, 389 S.E.2d 659 (1990). Here, the State offered the evidence both as evidence of motive and as part and parcel of the clean-up attempt after the murder. The evidence was material and admissible.

The reference to Petitioner selling drugs to Mr. Simonelli explained the details of the request made by Petitioner and the enticements offered. Thus, the prior drug transactions – which were

referenced only briefly and without collateral details, see R. p. 411, lines 24 – were part and parcel of Petitioner’s request to Mr. Simonelli. Further, the evidence demonstrated “an undeniable connection” in the precise area (in and round Haven Oaks), and other testimony that the victim had only just recently begun selling drugs in that area. This allows a reasonable inference of motive. (See R. p. 389, lines 16-24). Even so, the past sales show an existing relationship which strengthens and gives context to the request to purchase the replacement seat where victim was shot. In short, the testimony was admissible to establish material facts – 1) possible motive; and 2), the fact the seat was replaced due to victim’s blood being in the seat, not mere cosmetic reasons as offered by Petitioner. *Johnson, supra*.

Further, as the trial judge properly reasoned, the possibility of unfair prejudice did not outweigh the great probative force of the evidence. Cocaine use was already a part of the narrative – Scully testified that he and Petitioner used cocaine, and they were searching for cocaine the night of the murder. (See R.p. 273, lines 10-15; p. 277, lines 2-9; p. 289, lines 5-17). Further still, the trial judge reasoned that this was a crime with actual violence not a similarly situated drug charge, which tended to reduce the danger of unfair prejudice. *See, e.g., State v. Gore*, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984) (where “strikingly similar... the danger of prejudice is enhanced.”).¹

Petitioner’s further argument that the Court of Appeals failed to consider *State v. Coleman*, *State v. Bolden*, and *State v. Smith*, (Petition, p. 9), lacks merit for several reasons. First, Petitioner presented these cases and offered similarities in his brief. (FBOA, pp. 9-10). Second, these cases

¹ Similarly, because the past drug transactions explain the attempt to pay a current drug debt by helping Petitioner to purchase the seat the evidence is admissible as *res gestae*. *State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999) (“The *res gestae* theory recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged, or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.”). This theory requires “the temporal proximity of the prior bad act ... be closely related to the charged crime.” *State v. McGee*, 408 S.C. 278, 288, 758 S.E.2d 730, 736 (Ct. App. 2014). Mr. Simonelli testified to an existing relationship with Petitioner as his drug dealer at the time of Petitioner’s request. (R. p. 413, lines 20-25). This would satisfy the temporal requirement.

were referenced in oral argument to this Court. Third, the cases simply do not apply. The reference to prior drug dealing was specifically a part of this case by virtue of Petitioner's own offer. These cases do not support Petitioner's position.

Even so, had the evidence been admitted in error, it could only be harmless for two distinct reasons. First, the connection to drug use was already a part of the record with Scully's testimony. In this sense, the additional drug testimony was harmlessly cumulative. *See State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499-500, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (appellant unable to show prejudice where inadmissible hearsay merely cumulative). Second, the record shows overwhelming evidence of guilt, not the least of which is Scully's eyewitness account of the shooting and dumping of the body and gun – testimony that was systematically corroborated by the forensic and investigative evidence. There is also the fact Petitioner replaced the passenger seat, cut out the passenger side seatbelt, and blood was found on the center console despite the cleanup efforts. The evidence is solid, and supportive of guilt; thus, if error in admitting the instant testimony, it could only be harmless. *See Wilder*, 388 S.C. at 285, 696 S.E.2d at 589 (noting overwhelming evidence of guilt supporting harmless error). However, the record shows the trial judge did not abuse her discretion in allowing the evidence in proof of material facts. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed. Certiorari is not warranted.

II.

The Court of Appeals did not err in finding Petitioner's issue challenging the admission of the gun was procedurally barred from review where Petitioner argued a different ground at trial than the ground raised on appeal.

Relevant Facts:

As noted above, "Scully" White told officers about the discarded weapon, and based on his information, officers located a gun matching the description. (R. p. 430, line 2 – p. 431, line 4). Scully testified at trial the recovered gun appeared to be the same gun used in the murder. (R. p. 284, lines 17-18). Detective Greer testified how the gun was recovered. (R. p. 437, line 23 – p. 440, line 25). Detective Zensen testified he secured the gun and transported the gun to SLED. (R. p. 473,

line 13 – p. 475, line 25). The State again offered the gun into evidence. The trial judge admitted the gun as State’s Exhibit 14 over Petitioner’s objection to foundation. (R. p. 475, lines 18-23).

Ira Parnell, a firearm and tool mark examiner for SLED, testified he received the weapon from officers. He testified the bullet retrieved from autopsy was too badly damaged to match; however, it was consistent with a twenty-two which was consistent with the ammunition the recovered gun required. (R. p. 374, lines 8-18; p. 612, line 22- p. 614, line 11).

On appeal, Petitioner complains the trial judge erred in admitting the weapon as the evidence did not show the weapon was the actual weapon used in the murder. (FBOA, p. 14). The Court of Appeals found the issue barred from review on appeal. (App. p. 2).

Discussion:

It is well-settled that to preserve an issue for review, the issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003). Here, Petitioner argued lack of foundation, specifically chain of custody:

Your Honor, there’s nothing particularly unique about this weapon. How can she be so sure that that’s the same weapon we’re talking about. I object. No foundation.

(R. p. 434, lines 1-4). The trial judge considered lack of foundation, specifically chain of custody:

... I would have no concern if there was a serial number identified at the scene where it was found ... I’m a little bit concerned about that. Of course, there hadn’t been any kind of chain of custody. I don’t even know where it’s been kept.

(R. p. 435, lines 9-16).

Petitioner also argued the evidence from Scully was insufficient as “he was high on cocaine, freaked out, he was in a dark car” and added the divers had “found another gun inside the lake as well” which was not connected to the case. (R. p. 436, lines 1-12). Detective Greer confirmed her testimony was it appeared to be the gun recovered on the second dive. (R. p. 436, lines 22-23). The trial judge ruled, “I need more foundation.” (R. p. 436, line 24). Thus, the objection and the ruling were based upon sufficient of the evidence in proof of the chain of custody. There was no argument

or objection to relevance as in connection to the murder. (See also R. p. 475, lines 18-23, trial judge admitted the gun over Petitioner's same objection to foundation). Consequently, the Court of Appeals correctly found Petitioner's argument on appeal procedurally barred.² Petitioner has failed to show certiorari is warranted.

III.

The Court of Appeals did not err in finding no abuse of discretion in denying Petitioner's motion to suppress based on incorrect information in the search warrant where Petitioner's only actual argument of incorrect fact in regard to the assertion of a purchase was simply an incorrect date.

Relevant Facts:

Petitioner's Dodge Durango was searched pursuant to a warrant on September 27, 2007. (R. p. 458, lines 4-9). At that time, investigators were aware that Petitioner had switched out the passenger seat; however, the car was still searched for any other evidence of the murder. (R. p. 460, lines 9-12). Detective Jamie Zensen testified that he determined that the passenger side seat belt had been cut and removed. (R. p. 463, lines 5-11). Detective Zensen testified, from review of the victim's body when found, the victim had blood down his back, and such blood would likely transfer to a seat if he was seating in the seat at the time. (R. p. 472, lines 3-10). Nine swabs were ultimately taken, two tested positive for blood. (R. p. 502, lines 12-20). The two swabs tested as

² Petitioner also argues merits of the issue; however, an alternative merits analysis is unnecessary. Even so, there was no error. Mr. White, the witness to the murder, testified Petitioner shot the victim with a twenty-two long gun and subsequently threw the murder weapon into the river from Bacon Bridge. The weapon admitted at trial was recovered from that site and shared the same caliber – the caliber having been determined from the bullet retrieved at autopsy. (See R.p. 282, line 14 – p. 289, line 23; p. 430, line 2 – p. 431, line 4). Further, evidence Petitioner had a similar gun to that used to kill the victim would be admissible regardless of whether the actual gun used in the murder is recovered. *See State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 610, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007) (“The burglary evidence was presented in an effort to show the identity of the perpetrator by showing that petitioner was in possession of a stolen gun that was consistent with the type of weapon used to kill the victim.”); *State v. Pruitt*, 260 S.C. 396, 401, 196 S.E.2d 107, 109 (1973) (while weapon not found, other evidence demonstrated possession of gun with characteristics of weapon used in the murder). Further still, the gun could still be admitted as a demonstrative aid. Thus, the danger of any unfair prejudice leading to reversal was minimal.

blood were from the center counsel. (R. p. 533, lines 8-18). However, the amount was insufficient to perform DNA testing. (R. p. 502, lines 14-18).

Officers had originally obtained a warrant and searched the vehicle on September 17, 2007. No evidence was noted at that time. However, upon further investigation, Detective Giglio determined that Petitioner had called various auto parts and auto services businesses on September 14, 2007, the day after the murder. (R.p. 546, lines 3-10). This included a call to LKQ Automotive. (R.p. 547, lines 10-15). With the additional information about the replacement seat, Detective Giglio obtained the second warrant. (R.p. 554, lines 7-22). When notified of the second search warrant, Petitioner reacted – and interrupted the reading of the warrant – upon learning about the information concerning a purchased replacement seat shortly after the murder. (R.p. 556, lines 6-8). When asked if he wanted to explain, Petitioner declined to speak with the officer. (R.p. 556, lines 18-20). Detective Giglio testified at trial that he was then able to match the serial number of the replacement seat to the passenger seat in Petitioner’s vehicle. (R.p. 548, lines 11-24).

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